



# Building Equitable,

# Safe and Supportive Schools

Trauma and Culturally Sensitive Practices for Guidance

David Osher, Ph.D., Elana Kanter, M.A.T, Sara LaHayne, Deborah Moroney, Ph.D., Jennifer Money, Elizabeth Nolan

# **Contents**

What Is an Equitable, Safe, and Supportive School?	2
Figure 1. Pillars of Equitable, Safe, and Supportive Schools	3
Trauma-Informed and Culturally Sensitive Practices	4
Social-Emotional Learning	6
Figure 2. The Five Core Competencies of Social-Emotional Learning	7
Trauma-Sensitive Environment	8
Trauma-Sensitive Safety	9
Trauma-Sensitive Engagement	10
Why Is an Equitable, Safe, and Supportive School Important?	11
Table 1. Positive and negative correlations related to school climate.	13
Next Steps: Equitable, Safe, and Supportive Schools	14
Figure 3. Three phases for creating equitable, safe, and supportive schools  Table 2. Classroom, schoolwide, and districtwide actionable steps towards being	15
trauma-informed, culturally sensitive, equitable, safe, and supportive.	16
Downloadable Resources	17
Classroom Checklist	17
Figure 4. Classroom checklist	18
References	19
Additional Resources	22





The term *safe and supportive schools* has been sprinkled across our headlines and news feeds, but is it another buzzword or here to stay? The term is much more than reactive legislation and strategies in response to school tragedies. The idea of wanting equity, safety, and support in schools is not new, nor should it be anything less than a priority across classrooms, schools, and districts. In this white paper, you will learn how trauma-informed and sensitive practices are the foundation for equitable, safe, and supportive schools and learning environments. You also will discover easy-to-implement next steps and tips for planning for the future.

# What Is an Equitable, Safe, and Supportive School?

Learning happens in different ways, places, and times. Learning environments are created by physical spaces; physical materials; and many types of players, including students, support staff, paraprofessionals, teachers, administrators, families, safety resource officers, community members, and more. Many aspects of the school/learning environment can help students, staff, and families feel safe and supported. The U.S. Department of Education has outlined three categories of safe and supportive schools: environment, safety, and engagement. Evidence-based best practices would imply that trauma-informed and sensitive practices should

be the basis of these categories (Figure 1; U.S. Government, n.d.a).

According to the World Health Organization, "a school's environment can enhance social and emotional well-being, and learning when it:

- is warm, friendly and rewards learning;
- promotes cooperation rather than competition;
- facilitates supportive, open communications;
- views the provision of creative opportunities as important;
- prevents physical punishment, bullying, harassment and violence, by encouraging the
  development of procedures and policies that do not support physical punishment and
  that promote non-violent interaction on the playground, in class and among staff and
  students; and
- promotes the rights of [everyone] through equal opportunities and democratic procedures" (World Health Organization, n.d., page 1).





Figure 1. Pillars of Equitable, Safe, and Supportive Schools

#### TRAUMA-SENSITIVE MINDSET & PRACTICES

Trauma-informed and culturally sensitive practices involve assessing the intent of behaviors, promoting a culture of comfort, recognizing triggers, avoiding re-traumatization, training, transforming language, and seeking opportunities to promote healing. A critical component is addressing social emotional health and learning (i.e., building skills based on emotion management, healthy relationships, and positive decision making).

#### ENVIRONMENT

School size and the existence of learning communities, the physical design of schools and learning environments, adequate facilities, a strong academic environment, accessible supports for school-based health and wellness, and a disciplinary policy that is trauma-informed and culturally sensitive, fair, clear, understandable, and consistently enforced.

#### SAFETY

Schools and activities related to school, where students, staff, and families can be assured they are safe, both physically and emotionally, from perceived and actual risk, including victimization, bullying, harassment, and access to and use of substances, and emergency plans are in place that can be implemented when necessary.

#### ENGAGEMENT

Strong relationships among everyone who is part of the school, including students, teachers, families, and the larger community; respect for all individuals and opinions across race, culture, sexual orientation, religions, abilities; and involvement and participation in school activities.

Physical environment

Instructional environment

Physical health

Social, emotional, psychological, mental health

People: students, teachers, support staff, administrators, families, community members, etc. Physical environment

Social, emotional, psychological, mental safety

Physical Safety

Bullying and cyberbullying

Substance use

Emergency readiness and management

Physical environment

Instructional environment

Relationships

School participation

Respect for diversity

Adapted from U.S. Government (n.d.a)





# Trauma-Informed and Culturally Sensitive Practices

A trauma-informed and culturally sensitive mindset is an ongoing commitment to learning about trauma. This commitment relates to both an understanding of past and present trauma and the trauma's impact on staff, students, and families. This dedication to increasing knowledge, understanding, and gaining awareness of trauma is at the core of a trauma-sensitive mindset. Madisien Steele, the trauma-informed practitioner at Fall-Hamilton Enhanced Option Elementary School in Metro Nashville Public Schools explains as follows:

"I like to think of it [trauma-informed practice] as a spotlight. When you're watching [a] show, the spotlight is on the performer and you can't see what's going on in the background. Trauma-informed practices help us expand that spotlight to a floodlight. We're no longer just going to look at what's wrong with the child but we're going to see what else is happening in the background. We're going to look at the child's home situation, family life, etc. so we have a better understanding of what's going on." (How Trauma Informed Practices and SEL Strengthen School Culture, 2018)

Trauma-sensitive practices require collaboration and support for all members of a community or organization based on the traumas they have, or could, encounter. <u>Grafton Integrated Health Network's trauma-informed care model</u> recommends six key principles. By integrating these principles into classrooms and schools, educators will be able to better understand students, meet their needs, and empower them to find success.

#### 1. Evaluate the function and intent of behaviors.

Use initial and ongoing assessments to highlight the antecedents and consequences of a behavior, which will inform next steps for improving care.

#### 2. Promote a culture of comfort.

A trauma-informed environment is best employed as a holistic commitment (i.e., not only focusing on an isolated teacher-student interaction but also addressing the well-being and needs at all levels of a school or district.





#### 3. Recognize practices that are re-traumatizing.

Assess and evaluate data and self-reflections to best understand the triggers to avoid.

#### 4. Reinforce training for all employees.

Similar to the reasons for ongoing and differentiated teaching and reteaching, staff need to be trained and retrained. Trauma-informed practices require an open-minded growth mindset that allows for continued learning and reflection.

#### 5. Transform the language used.

Language used by adults and students should reflect respect, compassion, and care.

#### 6. Recognize the role of the caregiver as an opportunity to heal.

Caregivers have the incredible opportunity to "reverse the effects and impact of trauma, heal individuals and create an environment that is safe, comforting and trustworthy... It ultimately requires professionals to be kind, courteous, and respectful and to do whatever is needed to ensure that a person is valued and honored" (Adyanthaya, 2014).

Trauma-sensitive practices are important because most people have, or will, experience a form of trauma at some stage in their life. A Centers for Disease Control and Prevention/Kaiser Permanente adverse childhood experiences (ACE) study examined the prevalence of childhood trauma across the United States. The findings included that 64% of people will have at least one ACE by the time they are 19, with 38% having two or more ACEs (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2016). This study provided important insight on more than just the student population, including adults—educators, parents, guardians—as well. Educators must be equipped with trauma-sensitive practices to best meet the needs of students, families, communities, staff, and themselves. Trauma-sensitive practices range from social-emotional learning, using student support forms, to being equitable, and creating opportunities for relationship building. Trauma-sensitive mindsets and practices will affect all areas of a safe and supportive school: environment, safety, and engagement.





## Social-Emotional Learning

The <u>Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL)</u> defines social-emotional learning as "the process through which children and adults

- understand and manage emotions,
- set and achieve positive goals,
- feel and show empathy for others,
- establish and maintain positive relationships, and
- make decisions responsibly." (CASEL, 2018)

By developing these skills, children and adults are better prepared to address and strengthen their social and emotional well-being. For schools, this means learning environments that are safe, supportive, and more successful. These five core competencies closely align to <a href="Daniel Goleman's four pillars of emotional intelligence">Daniel Goleman's four pillars of emotional intelligence</a>. Emotional intelligence influences success in school and the workplace. Social-emotional learning provides the foundation needed to achieve lifelong happiness. It is important that teachers and leaders also have the opportunity to build their social-emotional skills and capacities. This process should be a multitiered approach of development and practice in the classroom alongside students, in staff meetings and trainings alongside peers, and developing at-home strategies and systems of support.





Figure 2. The Five Core Competencies of Social-Emotional Learning

#### Self-awareness

Identifying emotions
Expressing emotions
Mindfulness
Self-confidence
Recognizing strengths

#### Self-management

Managing emotions
Resilience
Stress management
Impulse control
Self-motivation

#### Social awareness

Empathy
Discovering differences
Diversity appreciation
Civic engagement
Respect for others

#### Relationship skills

Conflict resolution
Active listening
Cooperation
Teamwork
Communication Skills

#### **Decision making**

Identifying problems
Problem solving
Analyzing situations
Goal setting
Leadership skills

Adapted from Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (n.d.b)

The Aspen Institute's National Commission on Social, Emotional, and Academic Learning recently released <u>scientific statements of evidence</u> that demonstrate the lasting impact that social-emotional programming has on students, staff, school culture, and the surrounding community. Students are more likely to remain mentally present throughout the school day when social-emotional programming is present. Evidence demonstrates that students learn more when they can manage their emotions, form meaningful relationships, and demonstrate resilience. SEL programming also can increase executive functioning, self-efficacy, and persistence (5 Ways to Implement Social Emotional Learning for Student Success, n.d.).

SEL health and related competencies will strengthen the school environment, safety, and engagement. For example, social-emotional skills will help address student incidents and reactions to disciplinary plans (environment), peer-to-peer interactions and bullying prevention (safety), and respect for differences (engagement). Ongoing training and development for staff and students contribute to building SEL skills and forming an equitable, safe, and supportive environment.





#### Trauma-Sensitive Environment

Schools and learning environments vary across the United States and the world. This broad category addresses everything from the physical facilities and accessibilities of a school, to the people and types of roles, to school and instructional-related policies. "Teachers should be able to provide immersive, well-scaffolded culturally responsive instruction that builds metacognitive skills and accounts for students' prior knowledge and experiences and creates a social and emotional environment that fosters safety, engagement, learning, deeper learning, and creativity" (Osher, Moroney, & Williamson, 2018, p. 225).

Many aspects of the learning environment can help the players—students, staff, and families—feel safe and supported. Trauma-sensitive environments help ensure safe and supportive schools in several ways. Trauma-sensitive decisions about physical spaces are safe and supportive environments that are conscientious of physical, social, emotional, and other needs and abilities. Learning environments are made up of physical spaces, materials, people and other conditions that influence learning. These physical spaces include instructional areas as well as other noninstructional areas of the school and district. In addition to having equitable opportunities for teaching and learning, the nonphysical components of equitable, trauma-sensitive engagement include having a trauma-sensitive disciplinary plan and other mental health and wellness supports.

Establish classroom-, school-, and districtwide systems to develop trauma-sensitive mindsets and social-emotional skills. Whole school implementation of culturally responsive SEL programs and expectations help ensure buy-in, fidelity of implementation, and consistency related to common language and practices. The following are types of trauma-sensitive environment and learning experiences that students benefit from.

- "Classroom discourse that allows students to learn how to communicate effectively with their peers, persuade others using facts, defend an argument, and solve problems collectively.
- Instruction that involves rigorous and challenging academic content, helps students learn
  to both recognize and regulate their own frustration and to leverage their resources and
  persevere.
- Collaborative learning, that includes opportunities for direct instruction and feedback, so students can learn to take responsibility for their own learning and how to work with their





peers toward a common goal" (Osher, D., Moroney, D., & Williamson, S. L., 2018, page 225-226).

- Adequate and accessible facilities for both instructional and noninstructional spaces.
- Decoration that promotes learning, safety, supportiveness, and diversity.
- A culturally diverse environment and materials and colors promote calm and learning.
- Trauma-sensitive disciplinary policy and systems that are clear and equitably, fairly, and consistently enforced.
- Addressing the physical, social, emotional, psychological, and mental health of the school community members (i.e., students, staff, resource officers, and family members).

## **Trauma-Sensitive Safety**

The goal of trauma-informed safety is to create environments where all participants feel safe. Physical safety is only one part of an equitable, safe, and supportive school. The many facets of safety include emotional, psychological, and identity safety. Trauma-sensitive safety decisions allow for proactive problem solving and responding to traumas in a conscientious way, avoiding potential re-triggering. Trauma-sensitive safety decisions can help school staff and leaders take pause when planning a safety response. Leaders can ask themselves the following questions:

- How might this safety-related event or decision affect students, staff, and other school community members?
- How might student feelings affect their learning and whether they feel safe and supported in school?
- What exposure to risk, trauma, and adverse experiences are potentially possible for students and staff both in and out of school?
- What related supports, services, and trainings are needed for students and staff?

Trauma-sensitive safety is a much larger concept than thinking about physical safety in a silo. Safety includes physical, psychosocial, emotional, mental, and other types of exposure to trauma or re-traumatization. All types of safety coincide and should therefore be thought of as one cog in a larger machine that is an equitable, safe, and supportive school. To address trauma-sensitive safety prevention and reactive responses, schools and districts should use trauma-sensitive curriculum and trainings. According to a recent study led by McGraw-Hill Education, teachers want additional trainings and classroom time related to SEL. A good





starting point for staff professional development is CASEL's <u>Guiding Questions for Educators:</u>

<u>Promote Equity Using SEL.</u>

## **Trauma-Sensitive Engagement**

Safe and supportive school engagement involves positive relationships, involvement, and participation in the school community. This can range from classroom instruction to school activities. Trauma-sensitive SEL curricula and programs help provide the foundational skills necessary for positive, safe, and supportive engagement. "SEL can support robust equity which includes the ability to participate successfully in **deeper learning**, **collaborate** with others, and **address challenges** [emphasis added] that individuals and the world face" (Gregory, Farrington, & Osher, 2018, p. 51).

Trauma-sensitive engagement can encourage and incorporate SEL tactics to help build the skills and empathy necessary for respecting and embracing differences. Respecting diversity helps prevent potential unsafe and unsupportive moments based on misunderstandings, fear, and discrimination. Classroom and community teamwork, SEL practice and education, and opportunities for positive collaboration are easy ways to improve engagement in a school or district. Specifically, these events should be informative but fun and enjoyable whenever possible. Multicultural clubs and movie nights can be no- or low-cost community engagement opportunities.

Equitable engagement and feeling safe and supportive in schools is inconsistent within student experiences across the United States. Data documents "persistent disparities for students of color, English language learners, students with disabilities, students whose families and communities struggle with poverty, and students who experience trauma and other adversities" (Osher, Moroney, & Williamson, 2018, p. 1). The University of Wisconsin-Extension, Cooperative Extension (n.d.) has a Sustainable Equitable Engagement Process: A responsible and equitable process for intentionally engaging underserved audiences. The process outlines steps for capacity building and sustainable engagement, with the goal of improving inclusion, equity, opportunity, and access across the community.





# Why Is an Equitable, Safe, and Supportive School Important?

Safe and supportive schools are about comfortable learning environments that are accessible for all school staff, students, and families. The benefits of a trauma-sensitive, equitable, safe, and supportive school include positive academic and behavioral outcomes. Safe and supportive schools address a variety of needs, including physical, psychological, social, emotional, mental, and academic needs.

Where the atmosphere in a school is uncaring, unsupportive and unrewarding, the mental health, as well as the work of pupils and teachers, can be adversely affected. The impact of this unfriendly atmosphere is particularly damaging if it persists for many years. (World Health Organization, n.d.)

An increasing number of children and adolescents are facing trauma; struggling with stress and anxiety; and battling new challenges resulting from technology, particularly social media. These childhood traumas are just one piece of the climate and culture concerns that schools and districts experience throughout the school year. Across the country, educators and leaders want to see systemic impact and change related to

- student and staff well-being,
- teacher happiness and retention,
- student focus and attendance,
- student management of emotions, and
- school safety.

According to a 2018 Social Emotional Learning Report, completed by McGraw-Hill Education, "the overwhelming majority of administrators (96%), teachers (93%) and parents (81%) believe that social emotional learning is just as important as academic learning" (p. 5). In addition, the report concluded that teachers want even more time dedicated to teaching SEL in the classroom and want more related supports. As leaders begin to discuss how to navigate these obstacles and inspire change, many questions arise.

Are students and staff feeling safe and supported in schools?





- How can we help all students participate in instructional and noninstructional school activities?
- How can we improve the culture of our classrooms and school?
- What current programs or systems are in place to support students and staff well-being?
- What is currently working, and, perhaps more importantly, what's not?

Trauma-sensitive practices, including SEL programs and supports, are important because they can provide a foundation and roadmap for navigating these challenges. These approaches can and should be implemented proactively as part of school- or districtwide strategic plans. When implemented successfully, and integrated thoughtfully, these programs have the power to produce a tremendous impact on students, staff, parents, and the overall school community. School climate can affect attendance and graduation rates, academic performance, relationship building, and teacher retention.

"Schools can promote a positive school climate for students and staff by fostering connectedness through meaningful relationships, creating a sense of safety and freedom from violence, and providing an environment that is tailored to the needs of students" (U.S. Government, n.d.b). However, a negative school climate is tied to correlations negatively impacting success, achievement, and wellness.





Table 1. Positive and negative correlations related to school climate.

# A positive school climate is linked to the following:

- Improved student motivation.
- Increased student attendance and teacher retention.
- Reduced achievement gaps.
- Increased high school completion and prevention of school dropouts.
- Improved teacher satisfaction rates, while decreasing rates of teacher turnover.
- Positive impact on the mental and behavioral health of students.
- Increased feelings of belonging.
- Decreased depressive and risky behaviors.

# A negative school climate is linked to the following:

- Decreased attendance and graduation rates.
- Poor student achievement.
- Facilitated opportunities for bullying, violence and suicide.
- Problems and struggles related to self-esteem, depression, and psychosocial development.
- Disproportionately negatively affecting students with disabilities and LGBT students (Youth.gov).

Adapted from U.S. Government (n.d.b)

"Research shows that when schools and districts focus on improving school climate, students are more likely to engage in the curriculum, develop positive relationships, and demonstrate positive behaviors" (National Center on Safe Supportive Learning Environments, n.d.). As students and educators feel increasingly more safe and supported, the room for risk taking and potential personal, academic, and professional growth expands. Taking risks is an integral part of social emotional and academic development. These experiences help develop problem-solving skills, resilience, empathy, emotional regulation, and management. SEL provides the foundations necessary for this process.





# Next Steps: Equitable, Safe, and Supportive Schools

Creating trauma-sensitive, equitable, safe, and supportive schools is an ongoing process and commitment. Many aspects of becoming a more equitable, safe, and supportive school for all players involve prioritization in school and district strategic plans. Follow and repeat the three phases of implementation outlined in Figure 3 to create a trauma-sensitive, equitable, safe, and supportive school.





Figure 3. Three phases for creating equitable, safe, and supportive schools

#### PHASE 1

#### **ASSESS AND EVALUATE**

- Motivation
- Readiness
- Capacity
- Strengths and needs

 Who will be affected and involved and their role in the process related to engagement, decision making, implementation, and data collection, etc.

#### PHASE 2

#### **ENGAGEMENT AND EDUCATION**

- Create opportunities for education, training, and engagement based on traumasensitive, culturally responsive education and communities
- Build partnerships with families, outside organizations, and other members of the school community

#### PHASE 3

### **DECISION MAKING AND IMPLEMENTATION**

- Incorporate differentiation in instruction and school activities
- Value all voices and input (i.e., student, teacher, family)
- Use assessment, data, and evidence-based practices to inform decisions and implementation

Adapted from Osher, Moroney, & Williamson, 2018

Steps toward trauma-sensitive equity, safety, and support in schools happens at macro and micro levels across the school, district, and nationwide. The next steps vary depending on the level and can vary on cost, time to implement, and more. Review the following table for some strategies to implement today and into your strategic plans.





Table 2. Classroom, schoolwide, and districtwide actionable steps towards being trauma-informed, culturally sensitive, equitable, safe, and supportive.

Classroom	Schoolwide	Districtwide
<ul> <li>Diverse learning materials and methods of engagement</li> <li>Incorporate real-world scenarios</li> <li>Involve student voice and experiences</li> <li>Relationship and community building</li> <li>Opportunities for collaboration</li> <li>Locate free online and community resources and initiatives</li> <li>Incorporate culturally sensitive and responsive teaching</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Strategic plans that prioritize trauma-sensitive, equitable engagement</li> <li>Budget for trauma-sensitive, culturally responsive instructional materials for professional development</li> <li>Professional development and trainings for staff and families on         <ul> <li>diversity and respecting differences</li> <li>empathy</li> <li>equitable learning</li> <li>culturally sensitive and responsive teaching and other trauma-sensitive topics</li> </ul> </li> <li>Involve student, family, and teacher voices</li> <li>Create opportunities for meaningful, joyful, positive engagement (i.e., classroom project, schoolwide community event)</li> <li>Locate free online and community resources and initiatives</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Strategic plans that prioritize trauma-sensitive, equitable, safe, and supportive schools</li> <li>Offer student and staff health and wellness supports</li> <li>Professional development and trainings for staff and families on         <ul> <li>diversity and respecting differences</li> <li>empathy</li> <li>equitable learning and other trauma-sensitive topics</li> </ul> </li> <li>Involve student, family, teacher, and leader voices</li> <li>Update current disciplinary plans and systems (i.e., using a trauma-sensitive student support form)</li> <li>Utilize culturally and diversity sensitive practices</li> </ul>





#### Downloadable Resources

Building equitable, safe, and supportive learning environments will be an ongoing learning experience for students, staff, and families. Use trauma-informed and culturally sensitive resources and training for guidance. The National Center on Safe Supportive Learning Environments has a variety of free resources for a range of implementation stages and users. Creating a Safe and Respectful Environment in Our Nation's Classrooms and the School Climate Improvement Resource Package are two resources that include data, strategies, and implementation toolkits.

Cultural sensitivity and responsiveness is part of an equitable, safe, and supportive school. Tony Kline, Ph.D., provides an overview of <u>Culturally Responsive Teaching</u> on the Change Kids Lives website (n.d.). Additionally, Teaching Tolerance, a project of the Southern Poverty Law Center, published a <u>Culturally Responsive Teaching Awards Celebration resource</u> (2011). Both resources provide an overview on understanding cultural sensitivity and responsiveness, why it is important, and actionable next steps.

#### **Classroom Checklist**

Assessing self and community for equity, safety, and inclusion is an ongoing process. Print the classroom checklist (Figure 4) on the following page and start implementing immediately. This is meant to be a starting point for taking a safety "temperature check" with possible next steps for your classroom. Then use it as a conversation starter with your colleagues, mentors, and supervisors to figure out the best plan of action in your school or district.





Figure 4. Classroom checklist

# INITIAL STRATEGIES AND STEPS TO TAKE Keep finding Remember opportunities for to continuously rerelationship and assess & evaluate community building, yourself, students, joyful learning, and and supported in school? programs, etc. Oo my students feel safe growth. Get help from Have traumainformed and school leaders, culturally sensitive mentors, professional open lines of development, communication and resources. across peers, staff, and families. From school resource officers to teachers and administrators, support all staff in building positive relationships with students.





## References

- S Adyanthaya. (2015, April 2). Six principles of trauma informed care [Blog post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.grafton.org/six-principles-of-trauma-informed-care/">https://www.grafton.org/six-principles-of-trauma-informed-care/</a>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2016). *About the CDC-Kaiser ACE study*.

  Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/acestudy/about.html
- Change Kids Lives. (n.d.). *Culturally responsive teaching*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.changekidslives.org/lists-culturally-responsive-teaching/">http://www.changekidslives.org/lists-culturally-responsive-teaching/</a>
- Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning. (n.d.a). Guiding questions for educators: Promote equity using SEL. Retrieved from <a href="https://files.constantcontact.com/2b18842b001/337ea568-8725-47b3-a148-a747f20cebf">https://files.constantcontact.com/2b18842b001/337ea568-8725-47b3-a148-a747f20cebf</a> e.pdf
- Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning. (n.d.b). *Core SEL competencies*.

  Retrieved from <a href="https://casel.org/core-competencies/">https://casel.org/core-competencies/</a>
- Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning. (2018). *What is SEL?* Retrieved from https://casel.org/what-is-sel/
- Culturally Responsive Teaching Awards Celebration. (2011, December 9). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.edweek.org/media/crt\_research.pdf">https://www.edweek.org/media/crt\_research.pdf</a> Prepared for Teaching Tolerance: a project of the Southern Poverty Law Center.
- Five ways to implement social emotional learning for student success [Blog post]. (n.d.).

  Retrieved from

  <a href="http://movethisworld.com/blog/2017/10/23/5-ways-to-implement-social-emotional-learning-for-student-success">http://movethisworld.com/blog/2017/10/23/5-ways-to-implement-social-emotional-learning-for-student-success</a>
- Gregory, A., Farrington, C., & Osher, D. (2018, November 5). Innovations in SEL action research and practice: Considerations of diversity, ecological models, and educators' SEL competence. Retrieved from <a href="https://casel.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Zins-award-powerpoint.pdf">https://casel.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Zins-award-powerpoint.pdf</a>





- How trauma informed practices and SEL strengthen school culture [Blog post]. (2018, February 16). Retrieved from <a href="http://movethisworld.com/blog/2018/2/16/how-trauma-informed-practices-and-sel-strengt-hen-school-culture">http://movethisworld.com/blog/2018/2/16/how-trauma-informed-practices-and-sel-strengt-hen-school-culture</a>
- McGraw-Hill Education. (2018). 2018 Social Emotional Learning Survey. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.mheducation.com/prek-12/explore/sel-survey.html">https://www.mheducation.com/prek-12/explore/sel-survey.html</a>
- National Center on Safe Supportive Learning Environments. (n.d.). School climate improvement: resource package. Retrieved from <a href="https://safesupportivelearning.ed.gov/scirp/about">https://safesupportivelearning.ed.gov/scirp/about</a>
- Osher, D. (2018, October). How mental health and wellness support engaging, excellent, safe and equitable schools. Presented at the Annual Conference on Advancing School Mental Health, Las Vegas, NV. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.nmlegis.gov/handouts/ALESC%20102218%20Item%208%20Conditions%2">https://www.nmlegis.gov/handouts/ALESC%20102218%20Item%208%20Conditions%20for%20Learning%20and%20Equity%20-%20Dr.%20Osher.pdf</a>
- Osher, D., Moroney, D., & Williamson, S. L. (2018). *Creating safe, equitable, engaging schools:*A comprehensive, evidence-based approach to supporting students. Cambridge, MA:

  Harvard Education Press.
- Safe and Supportive Schools Commission. (2018). *Third annual report*. Boston, MA:

  Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. Retrieved from <a href="https://traumasensitiveschools.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Third\_Annual\_Report.pd">https://traumasensitiveschools.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Third\_Annual\_Report.pd</a>
- University of Wisconsin-Extension, Cooperative Extension. (n.d.). Sustainable Equitable

  Engagement Process (SEEP). Retrieved from

  <a href="https://fyi.uwex.edu/programdevelopment/sustainable-equitable-engagement-process-seep/">https://fyi.uwex.edu/programdevelopment/sustainable-equitable-engagement-process-seep/</a>
- U.S. Government. (n.d.a). *Components*. Retrieved from https://youth.gov/youth-topics/school-climate/components-of-positive-school-climate





- U.S. Government. (n.d.b). *Impact*. Retrieved from https://youth.gov/youth-topics/school-climate/impact-of-school-climate
- What is social emotional learning? [Blog post]. (n.d.). Retrieved from http://movethisworld.com/blog/2017/11/21/what-is-social-emotional-learning
- World Health Organization. (n.d.). *Creating an environment for emotional and social well-being.*Retrieved from

 $\underline{\text{http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/42819/9241591048.pdf?sequence=1\&isAl}\\ \underline{\text{lowed=y}}$ 





# **Additional Resources**

- Bear, G. G. (2010). School discipline and self-discipline: A practical guide to promoting prosocial student behavior. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Berson, I. R., & Baggerly, J. (2009). Building resilience to trauma: Creating a safe and supportive early childhood classroom. *Childhood Education*, *85*(6), 375–379. https://doi.org/10.1080/00094056.2009.10521404
- Bradshaw, C. P., Waasdorp, T. E., Debnam, K. J., & Johnson, S. L. (2014). Measuring school climate in high schools: A focus on safety, engagement, and the environment. *Journal of School Health*, *84*(9), 593–604. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12186">https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12186</a>
- Campbell, M., Butler, D., & Kift, S. (2008). A school's duty to provide a safe learning environment: Does this include cyberbullying? *Australia & New Zealand Journal of Law & Education*, 13(2), 21-32.
- Dwyer, K. P., Osher, D., & Hoffman, C. C. (2000). Creating responsive schools: Contextualizing early warning, timely response. *Exceptional Children*, *66*(3), 347–365. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440290006600306
- Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D., & Schellinger, B. B. (2011). The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-analysis of school-based universal interventions. *Child Development*, 82(1), 405–432.
- Guarino, K., & Chagnon, E. (2018). *Trauma-sensitive schools training package*. Washington, DC: National Center on Safe Supportive Learning Environments.
- Illinois Balanced and Restorative Justice. (n.d.). *Restorative justice in communities*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.ibarj.org/communities.asp">http://www.ibarj.org/communities.asp</a>
- Jagers, R. J., Rivas-Drake, D., & Borowski, T. (2018). *Equity & social and emotional learning: A cultural analysis*. Chicago, IL: Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning. Retrieved from <a href="https://measuringsel.casel.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Frameworks-Equity.pdf">https://measuringsel.casel.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Frameworks-Equity.pdf</a>





- Kanter, E., Portell, M., LaHayne, S., & Money, J. (2018, September 4). *How leaders can shift mindsets and create a trauma-informed student support form.* Retrieved from <a href="http://movethisworld.com/traumainformed-sel-pbis-whitepaper">http://movethisworld.com/traumainformed-sel-pbis-whitepaper</a>
- LaHayne, S. (2018, October 30). 5 reasons why social-emotional learning should be a daily routine. *Education Week*. Retrieved from <a href="http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/learning\_social\_emotional/2018/10/5\_reasons\_why\_social\_emotional\_learning\_should\_be\_a\_daily\_routine.html/">http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/learning\_social\_emotional/2018/10/5\_reasons\_why\_social\_emotional\_learning\_should\_be\_a\_daily\_routine.html/</a>
- LaHayne, S. (2018, May 29). Moving forward: Helping students feel safe and supported after tragedy [Blog post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://medium.com/@sara\_lahayne/moving-forward-helping-students-feel-safe-and-sup-ported-after-tragedy-6bcb1cc7a4a">https://medium.com/@sara\_lahayne/moving-forward-helping-students-feel-safe-and-sup-ported-after-tragedy-6bcb1cc7a4a</a>
- National School Boards Association. (n.d.). School safety, security, and emergency preparedness. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.nsba.org/services/school-board-leadership-services/school-safety-and-security">https://www.nsba.org/services/school-board-leadership-services/school-safety-and-security</a>
- National Prevention Science Coalition. (2018). School violence, safety, and well-being: A comprehensive approach [Congressional Briefing on C-SPAN]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.npscoalition.org/school-violence">https://www.npscoalition.org/school-violence</a>
- Parrett, W. H., & Budge, K. M. (2012). *Turning high-poverty schools into high-performing schools*. Alexandria, VA: ASCD.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (n.d.). *Trauma-informed approach*and trauma-specific interventions. Retrieved from
  <a href="https://www.samhsa.gov/nctic/trauma-interventions">https://www.samhsa.gov/nctic/trauma-interventions</a>
- Why restorative justice is about more than reducing suspensions. (2018, July 25). *KQED News*.

  Retrieved from

  <a href="https://www.kqed.org/mindshift/51686/how-restorative-justice-is-about-more-than-just-reducing-suspensions">https://www.kqed.org/mindshift/51686/how-restorative-justice-is-about-more-than-just-reducing-suspensions</a>





Zins, J. E., Bloodworth, M. R., Weissberg, R. P., & Walberg, H. J. (2007). The scientific base linking social and emotional learning to school success. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, 17(2–3), 191–210. https://doi.org/10.1080/10474410701413145



